Supreme Court No. S274943 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN THE MATTER OF	Court of Appeal No. B312001
N.R.,	Superior Court Nos. 20CCJP06523 20CCJP06523A
Minor.	
Los Angeles Department of Children and Family Services,	
Petitioner and Respondent,	
V.	
O.R.,	
Objector and Appellant.	

Appellant's Opening Brief On The Merits

After the Unpublished Decision by the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Five Filed April 29, 2022

Questions Presented

1) Concerning the term "substance abuse" in Welfare and Institutions Code section 300¹, subdivision (b)(1) did the Legislature intend juvenile courts to utilize the objective and scientifically based definition accepted by the medical and mental health professions? Or did the Legislature intend to adopt a separate and more expansive definition of

¹ Further statutory references will be to the California Welfare and Institutions code unless otherwise stated.

- "substance abuse" not recognized by medical or mental health professionals?
- 2) Does recurrent use of an illicit substance qualify as "substance abuse" for the purposes of section 300, subdivision (b)(1) despite no evidence the use has ever negatively impacted the parent's ability to fulfill any major life obligation?
- 3) Despite no indication of such in the statute itself, where a child is under the age of six does a finding of parental substance abuse *alone* provide sufficient evidence to warrant juvenile court jurisdiction?

Introduction

Jurisdiction over seventeen-month-old N.R. was based solely on Father's past recreational use of cocaine during weekends that his child was in the exclusive care of Mother. The parents lived separately and amicably shared custody. The record contains no evidence Father ever cared for N.R. under the influence of any substance, and no evidence he had ever jeopardized N.R.'s safety in any way or ever would. Father had no drugs or drug paraphernalia in his home, no criminal history, and no history of violent or otherwise inappropriate behavior. There was also no evidence Father's recreational cocaine use had ever negatively impacted his schooling or employment. The trial court's exercise of jurisdiction despite no evidence of risk was then affirmed by the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Five.

The plain language of section 300, subdivision (b)(1) is clear: jurisdiction over a child is not authorized based solely on parental substance use. The parent's substance use must amount to *abuse* and that "substance abuse" must actually place the child at a current substantial risk of serious physical harm.

Unfortunately, many appellate courts have written these fundamental inquiries out of the statute. In their view, the Department need not satisfy any recognized definition of "substance abuse" and also need not even prove risk if the child is under the age of six. This confusing appellate guidance led to the nonsensical exercise of jurisdiction here based solely on Father's past recreational use of cocaine that had not impacted N.R. in any way.

To find that substantial evidence supported the trial court's conclusion that Father's recreational use of cocaine outside the presence of N.R. amounted to "substance abuse," the Court of Appeal relied on a line of cases leaving the term "substance abuse" undefined. These cases sanction a "you'll know it when you see it" approach which is at odds with the purpose of section 300. Section 300 was enacted in its present form to avoid disparate and subjective treatment of families. A better approach, used by other courts, relies on the criteria from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM).² The

² Throughout this brief counsel will use "DSM" to refer to the entity DSM and not a particular edition of the treatise. Counsel will specify the edition by number (i.e., DSM-III or DSM-IV) and refer to the most current edition, the fifth edition, text revision as "DSM-V-TR."

Legislature intended this objective definition of the term "substance abuse." This Court should hold accordingly and avoid the type of subjective reasoning allowed by the alternative approach which was utilized here. Under the objective and scientifically based definition intended by the Legislature, there is no substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding of "substance abuse" and reversal is required.

Even if Father's cocaine use amounted to "substance abuse," both the trial court and the appellate court were required to determine whether this "substance abuse" actually placed N.R. at substantial risk of serious physical harm. The lower courts failed to perform this fundamental inquiry, instead relying on a judicially created doctrine that has no basis in the language of any statute. Under this rule, parental substance abuse alone serves as prima facie evidence that a child under the age of six is at substantial risk of serious physical harm. Pursuant to this doctrine, the burden was placed on Father to prove the absence of risk. Father respectfully requests this Court reject this judicially created doctrine and instead follow the plain language of the controlling statutes. Had the Department been required to actually prove that this child was at substantial risk of serious physical harm, this family would have never been subjected to court intervention. Father respectfully requests this Court adopt the legislatively intended definition of "substance abuse" present in the DSM and also clarify the Department's burden to actually prove risk.

Combined Statement of Facts/Procedure

A. Events prior to Detention

N.R. originally came to the attention of the Department in November 2020 based on concerns regarding relatives with whom Mother lived. (CT 9.) A police detective contacted the Department on November 19, 2020 because of a search warrant that had been authorized on Mother's home. (CT 9-10.) The police were looking for weapons and narcotics belonging to the maternal uncle and maternal grandmother's (MGM) boyfriend. (CT 10.)

While the police searched the home, the social worker met with Mother and they agreed that N.R. would be placed with Father during the Department's investigation. (CT 10.) Mother had no concerns with N.R. being in Father's care. (CT 11.) She explained that Mother and Father were not in a relationship but amicably co-parent "without a problem." (CT 10.) Mother called Father, and he headed to the home immediately. (CT 11.) When Father arrived, he took N.R. (CT 12.)

The social worker then assessed Father's home. (CT 12.) Father lived in an apartment with a small kitchen and restroom, and had working utilities and plenty of food. (CT 12.) The social worker saw no signs of any illegal or dangerous substances. (See CT 12.) The only safety concern noted by the social worker was that N.R. slept in the bed with Father when N.R. was there; the social worker was concerned about the dangers of co-sleeping. (CT 12.) Father stated that he would buy a "pack and play" for N.R. to sleep in instead. (CT 12.) Father denied substance abuse and agreed to a drug test. (CT 12.) The social worker noted: "The

child was seen in the father's care and appeared to be comfortable. The child was seen clean, neat and on target with all developmental milestones." (CT 12.)

Four days later on November 23, 2020 the social worker received the result for Father's drug test and it was positive for cocaine and negative for all other substances. (CT 12, 21.) The social worker did not discuss this positive result with Father until November 30, 2020, one week later. (CT 12.) N.R. had been in Father's exclusive custody for twelve days at this point and no concerns were noted beyond the positive drug test. (CT 12-13.) Father explained that he had used cocaine the weekend before he took the drug test and he was afraid to disclose this to the social worker. (CT 13.) That weekend was his birthday weekend and he had used cocaine with friends. (CT 13.) According to the social worker, "cocaine can usually be detected in a urine test for up to 4 days after use." (CT 78.) Father further explained that he is "not an active user and ha[d] not used since then." (CT 13.) The social worker expressed concern for N.R.'s safety. (CT 13.) "[F]ather stated that he understood and took full responsibility for his actions and will do what the department is asking him to do." (CT 13.)

On December 8, 2020, N.R. was taken into protective custody. (CT 13.) N.R. had been in Father's exclusive care from November 19, 2020 until the date of his removal nineteen days later on December 8, 2020 and no concerns were noted other than the single positive test.

B. Detention

A detention hearing was held on December 15, 2020. (CT 51.) The Department had filed a petition alleging that N.R. was described by section 300, subdivision (b)(1). (CT 1.) The petition contained two allegations. Allegation b-1 alleged that Mother had exposed N.R. to a "detrimental and endangering home environment." (CT 3.) Allegation b-2 alleged that Father has a history of "substance abuse" and "is a current abuser of cocaine" and that Father's "substance abuse" "endangers the child's physical health and safety and places the child at risk of serious physical harm, damage, [and] danger." (CT 4.) The court found Father to be the presumed father of N.R. (CT 52.) The court detained N.R. from both parents and ordered supervised visitation. (CT 53.)

C. Continuing Investigation

Father visited N.R. once a week and there were no concerns. (CT 158.)³ Mother explained that she never knew that Father used drugs and was shocked when she found out. (CT 63.) Mother later stated that she did know Father was using when they were dating. (CT 63.) After finding out about Father's positive test, Mother told Father he should stop using and he did. (CT 63.) Mother told the social worker that Father "seems different now...I think he's sober..." (CT 64.)

_

³ Counsel focuses on the evidence regarding allegation b-2 because b-1 was ultimately dismissed and not relevant to the present appeal.

Father stated "I'm so upset that they caught me! My mom was upset too. She was crying when I told her I tested positive. This cocaine thing is not me! I'm so upset!" (CT 66.) Father explained that his birthday was November 11, 2020 and he celebrated from that Thursday (11/12) to Sunday (11/15). (CT 66.) Father and his friends "would pitch in 10 dollars each to get something small." (CT 66.) Father consumed alcohol during the weekend as well, "just maybe 2 tall cans a day." (CT 66.) Father received N.R. into his care four days later on November 19, 2020 and voluntarily submitted to a drug test that day. (CT 11-12.) Father had also smoked marijuana in the past. (CT 66.)

Father stated further:

I don't stay here and take care of my child while high. [Mother] knew I used cocaine, but I wouldn't party at all every other weekend when [N.R.] came over. Me and [Mother] figured out our schedules, if she wanted to do things with her friends, I'd take [N.R.]

(CT 66.) "It was never serious, never out of control. I still go to work and school." (CT 66.)

Father first tried cocaine when he was twenty-one or twenty-two. (CT 66.) Father stated "I never had a problem with it, I never bought it myself, all these friends did it together. I used to rave a lot, and when there were big parties, I'd do it with my friends." (CT 66.) Father used cocaine "once or twice every two weeks" and explained "I don't have an addiction, otherwise I'd be broke." (CT 66.) Father did not believe he had a problem with cocaine but was willing to participate in services if the court

ordered him to. (CT 74.) Father was also willing to participate in random drug testing. (CT 73.)

Prior to Department involvement, N.R. had overnight weekend visits with Father. (CT 74.) The parents were coparenting and this was working well. (CT 74.) Since the removal, Father was sad to miss N.R.'s developmental milestones and learned that N.R. had begun to walk since he was placed into protective custody. (CT 74.)

The maternal uncle who was caring for N.R. stated he had no concerns regarding Father prior to hearing about the positive test. (CT 69.) He had observed a visitation between Father and N.R. and stated that "N.R. was happy, knows his father, and they had positive interactions." (CT 69.)

Father identified his support as his mother (PGM) and Mother. (CT 72.) Father lived with PGM, his older brother (a paternal uncle) and his sister (a paternal aunt) slept over sometimes. (CT 72.) Father had completed barber school at twenty-two years old and was licensed two years later. (CT 73.) Father had worked at a barber shop for four years but lost his job when the "COVID-19 pandemic [] shut down barber shops." (CT 72.) Father's ultimate goal was to have his own barber shop. (CT 72.) Father was at the time working in a warehouse twenty hours a week. (CT 72.) Father denied any prior arrests, gang affiliation, mental health history, child welfare history, and any significant health problems. (CT 73.)

Father tested negative for both scheduled drug tests in January: January 6th and January 27th, 2021. (CT 158.) Father

missed a test scheduled for Tuesday, February 9, 2021. (CT 158.) Father called the social worker and explained he missed the test because of work. (CT 158.) Father asked if his tests could be scheduled for Mondays and Fridays as these were the days he could make due to work. (CT 158.) The social worker denied Father's request and stated the testing must be "random." (CT 158.) The social worker set up a make-up test for Father three days later on February 12, 2021 and this test "leaked" (due to no fault of Father) so no results were available. (CT 158.) Father then missed another test on Tuesday, February 23, 2021. (CT 158.) Father appeared at the next scheduled test on Friday, March 19, 2021 and the result was negative. (CT 158.)

D. Combined Jurisdiction/Disposition Hearing

After several continuances, a combined jurisdiction/disposition hearing was held on April 7, 2021. (CT 189.) Both parents submitted the matters of jurisdiction and disposition to the court on the basis of the social worker's reports but objected to the recommendations. (CT 189-80; RT 15-17, 27-30.)

Jurisdiction

The court dismissed allegation b-1 concerning Mother as Mother had moved out of the home. (RT 23; CT 180, 189.) The court then sustained allegation b-2 which concerned Father's cocaine use. (CT 181.) The court modified the language to read that Father was a "recent abuser of cocaine" opposed to a "current"

abuser of cocaine." (CT 181, 189 [emphasis added].) The court found N.R. to be a child described by section 300, subdivision (b)(1). (CT 189; RT 24.)

Disposition

The court released N.R. to the care of Mother explaining that the detrimental environment was no longer a concern as Mother had moved out of that home. (CT 191; RT 27-28.) The court removed N.R. from Father's care and provided Father with enhancement services. (CT 191.) The court believed the child was at risk in Father's custody "given his drug abuse history." (RT 28.) In regards to Father's case plan, the court did not believe a "full [drug treatment] program" was warranted. (RT 33.) Because Father was no longer using cocaine or any other substance, he would not be eligible for a treatment program. (RT 33.) The court believed "it would be more appropriate to require tests, and then if any test is dirty, to do a program." (RT 33.)

E. The Appeal

On April 9, 2021 Father timely filed a notice of appeal. (CT 195-96.) In the subsequent appeal, Father challenged both jurisdiction and the order removing N.R. from his custody. In an unpublished opinion, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Five affirmed the trial court's findings and orders in full. (*In re N.R.* (April 29, 2022, B312001) [unpub. Opn.].) Regarding jurisdiction, the appellate court concluded that Father's "rather longstanding cocaine habit, with intensive use on at least one

known occasion, provides substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding of substance abuse." (Opn., p. 11.)⁴ The appellate court then concluded that jurisdiction was authorized because "[w]here very young children like N.R. are concerned, [] 'the finding of substance abuse is prima facie evidence of the inability of a parent or guardian to provide regular care resulting in a substantial risk of physical harm." (Opn., p. 12.) Father's petition for rehearing was denied on May 13, 2022. Father timely filed a petition for review on June 8, 2022 and this Court granted review on August 24, 2022.

Argument

I. The term "substance abuse" in section 300, subdivision (b)(1) refers to a substance use disorder as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM).

As explained, *infra*, I.A., pp. 19-25, there is a split in authority on the definition of "substance abuse" for purposes of section 300, subdivision (b)(1). Some cases utilize objective and medically based criteria from the DSM while others leave the term undefined and sanction a "you'll know it when you see it" approach. As explained, *infra*, I.B., pp. 25-41, utilization of DSM criteria to define "substance abuse" is the correct approach based on statutory language, legislative history and public policy. As explained, *infra*, I.C., pp. 41-44, the Court of Appeal here crafted a definition of "substance abuse" out of line with legislative

 $^{^4}$ Counsel cites to the unpublished opinion in B312001 filed on April 29, 2022 as "Opn."

intent, this definition amounts to nothing more than repeated use, and therefore reversal is required.

A. There is currently a conflict of authority concerning the definition of "substance abuse" for purposes of section 300.

The current form of section 300 was enacted in 1987 and states in relevant part that a juvenile court is authorized to take jurisdiction over a child if:

The child has suffered, or there is a substantial risk that the child will suffer serious physical harm or illness, as a result of...the inability of the parent or guardian to provide regular care for the child due to the parent's or guardian's mental illness, developmental disability, or *substance abuse*.

(Section 300, subdivision (b)(1) [emphasis added].)⁵ The Legislature did not specifically define "substance abuse" and "a review of the legislative history surrounding the revisions has revealed no specific discussion of how such term should be defined in practice." (*In re Drake M.* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 754, 764 (*Drake M.*).)

19

⁵ Section 300 has been amended since 1987 but these revisions have no relevance to the present appeal.

i. The Court in *Drake M*. held that a finding of "substance abuse" must be made pursuant to the objective and scientifically based criteria of the DSM.

In 2012, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three addressed the question of what parental conduct qualifies as "substance abuse." (*Drake M., supra, 211 Cal.App.4th at p.* 765.) As the *Drake M*. court noted, in the twenty-five years since the current form of section 300 had been enacted, dependency cases had "varied widely in the kinds of parental actions labeled 'substance abuse'." (*Ibid.*) Most courts' analyses were fact driven and did not articulate any specific criteria for lower courts or social workers to utilize. (Compare In re J.N. (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1010, 1026 [single drunk driving accident with child in the car not sufficient]; In re B.T. (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 685, 694 [witnesses' claim that the mother drank more beer than she should not sufficient] with In re E.B. (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 568, 575 [single DUI arrest and family member's claims the mother had a problem was sufficient]; see also In re Alexis E. (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 438, 451 [the father had abused marijuana because he used it before obtaining a prescription].) Some courts focused on the potential effect to the child from the parent's substance use or abuse but varied on what effect was sufficient to warrant jurisdiction. (E.g., compare In re Alexis E., supra, at p. 451 [jurisdiction warranted because children could smell marijuana] with In re Destiny S. (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 999, 1001 [evidence daughter had reported smelling marijuana was insufficient to establish riskl.)

The Drake M. court relied on a prior case Jennifer A. v. Superior Court (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 1322 (Jennifer A.) which had examined whether a mother's substance use rose to the level of "substance abuse." (Drake M., supra, 211 Cal.App.4th at p. 765.) In Jennifer A., the children had been removed from the mother's custody after she left them alone in a motel room. (Jennifer A., supra, at p. 1326.) Despite Mother's compliance with her case plan, the court terminated services and scheduled a section 366.26 hearing because Mother had tested positive for marijuana on two occasions. (Id. at p. 1327.) The reviewing court found Mother's use of marijuana insufficient to support the trial court's finding that the children would be placed at a substantial risk of detriment. (Id. at p. 1346.) This was because "[n]o evidence was presented to establish Mother displayed clinical substance abuse" as defined by the DSM-IV-TR. (Ibid.)

Adopting the *Jennifer A*. reasoning, the *Drake M*. court held that a finding of substance abuse for purposes of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), must be based on evidence sufficient to:

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