S274943

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re N.R., A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES.

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

O.R.,

Defendant and Appellant.

From an Unpublished Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B312001 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. 20CCJP06523A On Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Honorable Martha Matthews, Judge Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL DAWYN R. HARRISON
Interim County Counsel
KIM NEMOY
Assistant County Counsel
DAVID MICHAEL MILLER
Senior Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 251772

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

Argument

I. Standard of Review.

The interpretation and applicability of a statute is a question of law. (In re R.T. (2017) 3 Cal.5th 622, 627; Jose O. v. Superior Court (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 703, 706.) Questions of law that do not involve resolution of disputed facts are subject to de novo review. (Jose O. v. Superior Court, supra, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 706.)

II. Nothing in the Text, Structure, Stated Purpose, or History of the Dependency Statutes Supports Petitioner's Contention that Section 300, Subdivision (b)(1), Requires Juvenile Courts to Narrowly Construe "Substance Abuse" to the Medical Definition Provided in the DSM.

When interpreting a statute, the judiciary's role is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. (*Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara* (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 480, 487.) In doing so, reviewing Courts "start with the statute's words, which are the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*In re R.T., supra,* 3 Cal.5th at p. 627.) "If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend." (*Coalition of Concerned Communities, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 733, 737.) Relevant terms are to be interpreted "in light of their ordinary meaning, while also taking

account of any related provisions and the overall structure of the statutory scheme to determine what interpretation best advances the Legislature's underlying purpose.' [Citations]. 'When language is included in one portion of a statute, its omission from a different portion addressing a similar subject suggests that the omission was purposeful.' [Citation]." (*In re R.T., supra, 3* Cal.5th at p. 627.)

It is not the judiciary's role to insert into a statute what the Legislature has omitted, nor should the judiciary omit from a statue what has been inserted. (*Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara, supra,* 187 Cal.App.3d at p. 487; Calif. Code Civ. Proc., § 1858.) Put another way, "[t]he judiciary has no power to rewrite plain statutory language' under the guise of construction. [Citation]." (*Ibid.*) "Only when the statute's language is ambiguous or susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, may the court turn to extrinsic aids to assist in interpretation." (*In re Ethan C.* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 610, 627, internal quotes and citations omitted.)

A. The Plain Language of Section 300, Subdivision (b)(1), Does Not Preclude Juvenile Courts From Finding Parental Substance Abuse Outside the Definition Provided by the DSM.

Section 300, subdivision (b)(1), authorizes a juvenile court to exercise dependency jurisdiction over a child if "[t]he child has suffered, or there is a substantial risk that the child will suffer, serious physical harm or illness . . . by the inability of the parent or guardian to provide regular care for the child due to the parent's or guardian's mental illness, developmental disability, or substance abuse."

"The Legislature included no definition of the term substance abuse' when it rewrote section 300 in 1987." (In re Drake M. (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 754, 765 [Drake M.].)

"Although not binding, it can be useful to refer to the dictionary definition of a word in attempting to ascertain the meaning of statutory language." (*In re Marriage of Davis* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 846, 852, fn 1.)

The usual and ordinary meaning of the term "substance abuse" as defined in lay dictionaries include "the habit of taking too much of a harmful drug or drinking too much alcohol" (Oxford Learner's Dictionary at

https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/us/definition/english/substance-abuse [as of February 10, 2023]); "excessive use of a drug (such as alcohol, narcotics, or cocaine)" or the "use of a drug without medical justification" (Merriam-Webster Dictionary at https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/substance%20abuse [as of February 10, 2023]); and "[e]xcessive, inappropriate, or illegal use of a substance, such as a drug, alcohol, or another chemical such as an inhalant, especially when resulting in addiction. Also called *chemical abuse*" (The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language at https://ahdictionary.com/word/search.html?q=substance+abuse [as of February 10, 2023]).

Black's Law Dictionary (8th ed. 2004) defines "drug abuse" as "[t]he detrimental state produced by the repeated consumption of a narcotic or other potentially dangerous drug, other than as prescribed by a doctor to treat an illness or other medical

condition." (Black's Law Dict. (8th ed. 2004) p. 536, col. 1.)

Another legal dictionary defines "drug abuse" as "a term used to describe the actions of a person who self-administers drugs that are dangerous and or harmful." (The Law Dictionary at https://thelawdictionary.org/drug-abuse/> [as of February 10, 2023].)

The DSM was first published in 1952. (JN-B, p. 18.)¹³ The DSM-III was in effect in 1987 when the Legislature revised section 300; the stated purpose of the DSM-III was for the diagnosis of mental disorders in clinical practice and research. (JN-B, pp. 1-2.) The DSM-III expressly cautioned against using the manual for non-clinical purposes, such as determination of legal responsibility or competency. (JN-B, p. 29.) Under the DSM-III, "substance abuse" and "substance dependence" were defined separately. (JN-B, p. 30.) "Substance abuse" was defined as (1) pattern of pathological use; (2) impairment in social or occupational functioning due to substance use; and (3) minimal duration of disturbance of at least one month. (JN-B, p. 30.) Each of these three criteria was further defined by the DSM-III. (JN-B, p. 31.)

The current version of the DSM, the DSM-V, no longer defines "substance abuse" or "substance dependence"; the two terms were eliminated and replaced with the new category "substance use disorder." (JN-A, p. 6.) "Substance use disorder"

¹³ Father filed a request for judicial notice concurrently with the OBM. (See OBM 26.) The Department will reference those documents in the same manner as Father.

describes the wide range of the disorder, from mild (presence of two to three symptoms), moderate (four to five symptoms), and severe (six or more symptoms). (JN-A, pp. 9, 12.) Relevant here, the sub-category, "stimulant use disorder" is defined as a pattern of amphetamine-type substance use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress as indicated by at least two of the following within a 12-month period: (1) taking larger amounts or over a longer period of time than intended; (2) persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to stop or limit consumption; (3) spending large amounts of to obtain, use, or recover from the substance; (4) having strong cravings; (5) recurring use resulting in a failure to fulfill major work, school, or home obligations; (6) continued use despite recurring social or interpersonal problems caused or exacerbated by the effects of the drug; (7) neglecting important activities because of drug use; (8) recurrent use in situations that are physically hazardous; (9) continued use despite recurring physical or psychological problems caused or exacerbated by the drug; (10) needing more of the drug to achieve the desired effect; and (11) having withdrawal symptoms as defined in the DSM-V or needing drugs to alleviate withdrawal symptoms. (JN-A, pp. 14-15.)

Nothing in section 300's plain language suggests juvenile courts must consult this clinical definition – used for research and diagnosing patients – to assess child risk and invoke dependency jurisdiction. The statute's plain language does not indicate "substance abuse" means anything other than its ordinary, lay definition.

Therefore, the term "substance abuse" should be broadly defined by its ordinary and plain meaning, and courts should determine, based on the particular facts of a case, whether a parent's "substance abuse" places their child at risk of harm and warrants dependency jurisdiction.

B. The Statutory Context Confirms the Term "Substance Abuse" in Section 300, Subdivision (b)(1), Is Not Limited to the DSM's Clinical Definition.

A whole-text reading of section 300 reinforces that the Legislature did not intend dependency jurisdiction to hinge on the clinical definition of "substance abuse" found in the DSM.

The Legislature knows how to narrowly define terms supporting dependency jurisdiction, as it narrowly defined terms in some parts of the statute but not in others. For example, section 300, subdivision (d), allows for dependency jurisdiction when a "child has been sexually abused, or there is a substantial risk that the child will be sexually abused, as defined in Section 11165.1 of the Penal Code," Under this provision, the Legislature defined the term "sexual abuse" by referencing the criminal offenses enumerated in California Penal Code section 11165.1. (§ 300, subd. (d).)

Likewise, section 300, subdivision (b)(2), protects commercially sexually exploited children "as described in Section 236.1 of the Penal Code, . . . or 11165.1 of the Penal Code,"

Also, the Legislature defined the term "emotional abuse" in section 300, subdivision (c), by declaring the subject child must show evidence of "severe anxiety, depression, withdrawal, or

untoward aggressive behavior toward self or others, as a result of the conduct of the parent. . . . "

Another example of where the Legislature limited the grounds for asserting dependency jurisdiction is section 300, subdivision (e), which narrowly defines "severe physical abuse" as "any single act of abuse that causes physical trauma of sufficient severity that, if left untreated, would cause permanent physical disfigurement, permanent physical disability, or death; any single act of sexual abuse that causes significant bleeding, deep bruising, or significant external or internal swelling; or more than one act of physical abuse, each of which causes bleeding, deep bruising, significant external or internal swelling, bone fracture, or unconsciousness; or the willful, prolonged failure to provide adequate food."

Under section 300, subdivision (a), the Legislature narrowed the definition of "serious physical harm" by stating the term "does not include reasonable and age-appropriate spanking to the buttocks if there is no evidence of serious physical injury."

In comparison, the Legislature did not narrowly define the term "neglect" in section 300, subdivision (f), or the term "cruelty" in section 300, subdivision (i). (See, e.g., *In re Ethan C., supra,* 54 Cal.4th at pp. 617, 626-637 [section 300, subdivision (f), does not limit its application to criminal negligence].) Nor did the Legislature narrowly define the terms "mental illness," "developmental disability," and "substance abuse" in section 300, subdivision (b)(1).

In 1987, when the Legislature revised section 300, the DSM had been in publication for 35 years and was in its third edition. (JN-B, pp. 17-32.) Despite this, the Legislature did not narrowly define the term "substance abuse" for purposes of assessing risk and protecting children by requiring juvenile courts to only consult the DSM's clinical definition.

Based on a whole-text reading of the various section 300 provisions where the Legislature expressly defined some forms of abuse but not others, it must reasonably be inferred that the Legislature did not intend to narrowly define "substance abuse" according to the DSM's clinical definition of that term. (See *In re Ethan C., supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 638 ["When language is included in one portion of a statute, its omission from a different portion addressing a similar subject suggests that the omission was purposeful."].)

C. Giving "Substance Abuse" Its Ordinary and Plain Meaning is Consistent with the Dependency Statutes' Overall Purpose of Providing Maximum Safety and Protection to Children.

In 1996, the Legislature added section 300.2,¹⁴ titled "Purpose of chapter." That statute states in relevant part, "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the purpose of the provisions of this chapter relating to dependent children is to provide maximum safety and protection for children who are currently being physically, sexually, or emotionally abused, being

¹⁴ The statute was amended in January 2023; the amendments do not affect this appeal.

neglected, or being exploited, and to ensure the safety, protection, and physical and emotional well-being of children who are at risk of that harm. . . ." (§ 300.2, italics added.) The statute goes on to state, "The provision of a home environment free from the negative effects of substance abuse is a necessary condition for the safety, protection and physical and emotional well-being of the child. Successful participation in a treatment program for substance abuse may be considered in evaluating the home environment. . . ." (Ibid., italics added.) It follows that the Legislature would put in place measures to achieve that stated purpose, not frustrate it.

Broadly defining the term "substance abuse" is consistent with the statutory purpose to protect children. The DSM was developed for use in a clinical setting, not to assess child safety issues. Although the DSM may be helpful to assess the ability of a parent to safety care for a child, particularly a child of tender age, it is not determinative and should not be used to restrict the Department's and the juvenile courts' ability to assess risk.

D. The History of Juvenile Dependency Laws Confirms the Legislature did Not Intend to Restrict the Term "Substance Abuse" to the Definition Provided in the DSM.

As discussed above, nothing in the statue's plain words suggests "substance abuse" means anything more than the ordinary meaning of the word. However, any ambiguity can be resolved by the legislative history of section 300. (See *In re Ethan C., supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 622.)

In *In re Rocco M*. (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 814 (*Rocco M*.), the First District Court of Appeal discussed how the Legislature in 1987 intended to narrow the grounds on which juvenile court

jurisdiction could be invoked. (*Id.* at p. 821.) Prior to 1987, "a child could be declared dependent if he or she was 'in need of proper and effective parental care or control and ha[d] no parent or guardian ... willing to exercise or capable of exercising such care or control, or ha[d] no parent or guardian actually exercising such control.' (Former § 300, subd. (a), repealed 1987 Stats. ch. 1485, § 3, p. 5603.)" (*Rocco M., supra,* 1 Cal.App.4th at p. 821.)

"The 1987 revisions to section 300 were proposed by a task force established by the Legislature in 1986. (1986 Stats., ch. 1122, § 24, p. 3995.) According to one member of the task force, the purpose of the revisions was 'to replace the general provisions of the former statute with more specific and narrowly drawn requirements that would eliminate the wide discretion given to courts and child welfare workers under the old provisions, while continuing to allow assumption of dependency in all situations in which the minor is at risk.' (Brandt, 2 Cal. Juvenile Court Practice Supp. (Cont.Ed.Bar 1990), § 15.1, p. 4.)" (Rocco M., supra, 1 Cal.App.4th at p. 821.) The Executive Summary of the task force report states the "task force was to examine existing statutes and practices and make recommendations for any changes needed to ensure maximum continuity of protection for children at risk of abuse, neglect, and exploitation." (Sen. Select Com. On Children & Youth (1195 Task Force, Rep. on Child Abuse Reporting Laws, Juvenile Court Dependency Statutes, and Child Welfare Services (Jan. 1988) p. i [Task Force Report]; JN-C, p. 39.)

"Similarly, the consultant's report for the Assembly Committee on Human Services stated that the revised section 300 would '[c]larif[y] the definition of abuse. . . . The decision to *remove* a child from his or her home and/or terminate parental rights would be based on the immediate danger or "substantial risk" of danger to the child. . . . The bill would more clearly define the conditions under which a child could be *removed* from the family.' (Consultant's Report on Senate Bill 243, Assembly Committee on Human Services (July 8, 1987), p. 1.)" (*Rocco M., supra*, 1 Cal.App.4th at p. 821, italics added.)

The *Rocco M*. Court criticized the remarks of the consultant's report as "troubling" because they either misunderstood or misstated the law by confusing the assertion of dependency jurisdiction with a separate disposition hearing where the juvenile court considers possible removal of a child from the parent's custody. (*Rocco M., supra*, 1 Cal.App.4th at p. 821, fn. 5; see also *In re Ethan C., supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 617.)

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